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32 GEORGE SQUARE 

' freedom of the Cage ' was sought after by old soldiers who 
recounted their martial prowess to sympathetic audiences. 

Residents on the west and south sides of George Square 
at the period under review saw from their back windows an 
enchanting view-a glorious expanse of greensward, rich in 
venerable trees, carrying the eye to the gentle slopes of 
Bruntsfield and Merchiston, and, farther off, to the undulating 
contour of the Pentlands. 

On the west side of the Middle Meadow Walk, surrounded 
by luxuriant foliage, was George Watson's Hospital, now 
forming part of the Royal Infirmary. Built in 1738, it origin­
ally was a plain, squat structure with projecting wings. A 
broad flight of steps led to the entrance on the south side, 
and a diminutive spire surmounted by a ship was an apt 
reminder of the days when the founder was cashier to Sir 
J itl:nes Dick of Prestonfield. 

The bulk of Watson's fortune, amounting to £12,000, was 
mortified to raise the Hospital. By 1738, fifteen years after 
the death of the testator, the bequest had increased to £20,000, 
which enabled the governors to purchase from the Town 
Council seven and a half acres, ideally situated in Heriot's 
Croft, and bounded on the east by ' the spacious walk leading 
from the Charity Workhouse postern gate to Hope's Park, 
on the south by the northern ditch (known as the "Lochrin ") 
of the said park ... and on the north by Bristow Causeway.' 
For a hundred and thirty years Watson's Hospital was a 
conspicuous feature in the vicinity of George Square. In 
1870, however, a complete transformation was effected, the 
institution being sold to the managers of the Royal Infirmary. 
Henceforth it was engulfed in the congeries of buildings 
marking the new home in Lauriston of that beneficent 
institution. 

From the top of the Middle Meadow Walk eastwards, 
where now is the Medical School and the M'Ewan Hall, 
formerly stood a row of villas with pleasant gardens in front. 
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This ?rings us to the point from which our cursory topo­
graphical survey of the surroundings of George Square started. 

IV. FAMOUS RESIDENTS-NORTH Row 

Having dealt with the general history and surroundings 
?f George Square, likewise with its beautiful old garden, it 
1s proposed to direct attention to the many famous people 
who have lived in or were associated with the sixty-one 
houses comprising Brown's ' Great Square.' With few 
exceptions the first two or three names of residents are usually 
the most interesting, but even the rare example of an early 
dweller with no particular history has been included, in order 
to present as complete a picture as may be of the early society 
of George Square. As far as possible, but without having 
had access to the title-deeds of all the houses, most of the 
original inhabitants have been traced. 

' How wonderful a thing it is,' writes Dr. G. M. Trevelyan, 
' to look back into the past as it actually was, to get a glimpse 
through the curtain of old night into some brilliantly lighted 
scene of living men and women, not mere creatures of fiction 
and imagination, but warm-blooded realities even as we are.' 
In the hope, then, that readers will find that the following 
accounts enable them to ' get a glimpse through the curtain 
of old night ' at scenes and personages of those Georgian days, 
and some a little nearer our own day, a start shall be made 
at the north-east corner, and a continuous narrative will lead 
them about the Square until they again approach the north­
east corner, at No. 60. 

The first proprietor of No. 1 was Captain the Hon. Charles 
Napier, R.N., of Merchiston Hall (1731-1807), second son of 
Francis, fifth Lord Napier, and his wife, Lady Henrietta, a 
daughter of Charles, Earl of Hopetoun. 

Napier was appointed a lieutenant in the Navy in 1754, 
and commander in 1758. He captured off Cape de Gatte 
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34 GEORGE SQUARE 

(1761) a French privateer of 18 guns and 135 men. In 1762 
Napier was in the West Indies as part of the naval force 
under Sir George Pocock sent against Havana. There he was 
advanced to post-captain and appointed to the Stirling Castle, 
serving on the West Indies Station for some years after peace 
was declared. He figures in the list of superannuated captains 
for 1793. In Clowes' Royal Navy occurs the following : 

In May 1777, there were five American privateers lying off Water­
ford, waiting for the Newfoundland fleet . In the same year, two 
privateers anchored in Selway Firth ; off Kintyre there were two 
more, and others cruised between Jerney and Guernsey. ' Fall the 
Pirate,' one of the most notorious, was chased, unsuccessfully, by 
Nelson in 1781. He had harried the coast of Scotland. The letters 
of Capt. the Hon. Charles Napier show the Firth of Forth to have 
been much troubled by such freebooters. 

This is the British side of the state of a,ffairs referred to 
in the American naval song' Paul Jones': 

Thro' a mad-hearted war, which old England will rue, 
At London, at Dublin, and EdinbUl'gh, too, 
The tradesmen stand still , and the merchant bemoans 
The losses he meets with from such as Paul Jones. 

Further evidence of the straits to which Britain was 
reduced to obtain forces with which to keep up the struggle 
for command of the seas is afforded by an entry in Boswell's 
Journal for 11th April 1777. It tells how Walter Scott, W.S., 
took James Boswell to call on a neighbour of the Scotts in 
George Square, Captain Napier, then' on the impress service, 
as John l\!IcBurnie, an Auchinleck Man, had been taken 
aboard, and I,' says Boswell, ' was much solicited to get him 
off. The Captain had heard of his Father and mine being 
intimate. He shewed me his Warrant: That he was ordered 
to press all seamen and men who had worked in Ships or Boats, 
and he was informed that McBurnie, who was a notorious 
Smuggler, had worked in boats. But if it was not so he should 
be discharged.' 
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Some amusing passages in the Life of Admiral Si?- Charles 
Napier, descriptive of his boyhood at No. l, are of interest. 
Although Napier was unlucky with his hopes of promotion, 
his second son-the famous ' Black Charles '-became a 
distinguished officer in the Navy. The author says: 'No 
particular circumstances are recorded as having marked the 
early years of Charles Napier; but his childhood appears to 
have passed happily away amidst a large and united family 
-in the summer months at Merchiston Hall, and during the 
winter at the town residence in George's Square, Edinburgh.' 

' To me,' writes an old schoolfellow, ' there is magic in 
the name of Charlie Napier; it brings fresh before me the 
"days o' lang syne," the days of the High School, George's 
Square, its games, its laddies, and its bickers ; in these Charlie 
was one of our most conspicuous leaders .. .. He succeeded 
on one occasion in obtaining the position of" Don," or head 
of the class to which he belonged, and so proud was he of this 
distinction that to commemorate the event he ordered a 
sedan chair ... and was thus carried home in triumph to his 
father's house in George's Square.' 

Writes P. B. Ainslie of Pilton, in Recollections of a Scottish 
Gentleman: 

Amongst the favoUl'ite companions of my boyhood was Charlie 
Napier, whose ardent wish to enter the Navy was decidedly opposed 
by his father (a retired post-captain). This interference with Charlie's 
wishes was considered by us aspiring youngsters as a tyrannical . 
stretch of parental authority, and we accordingly determined to 
accompany Charlie to his father's house, and endeavoUl', by our 
persuasive eloquence, to move the gallant captain from his resolution. 
I well recollect the awe we experienced when we reached George's 
Square, and were about to be ushered into the presence of the captain. 
... On entering the library ... om' fears and alarm did not diminish 
as the Captain looked with most stern surprise at the liberty we had 
taken by thus invading his sanctum. At last Charlie lifted up his 
voice and reiterated his wish to don the middy's uniform-when we 
took coUl'age and urged in tremulous tones in support of his position. 



36 GEORGE SQUARE 

But it was in vain, and we were dismissed in no very courteous terms 
by the gallant vetel'an, who declared, in decided language ' that 
Charles never should entel' the Navy.' How this seemingly most 
positive determination came to be altered I know not . But in a very 
brief after-period, Charlie announced to us, with unbounded joy, that 
his father had at last consented to his wishes. 

Another friend recalls that ' one of the earliest recollec­
tions of my childhood is that of" black cousin Charles," as 
we used to call him. And our great delight as children was 
to get him to wall, with us and our old nurse, in the Meadows 
near George's Square, when he would sometimes carry the 
youngest in his arms.' 

The second proprietor of No. 1 was Thomas Burns, W.S., 
of Longcroft, Stirlingshire (1770-1858), the youngest son of 
James Burns of Glenfour. As he was an apprentice to Walter 
Scott, W.S., he may be the person referred to as ' Tom Burns ' 
in Scott's Journal for 14th February 1828. His only son, 
Thomas Charles Burns, W.S., married Jane, only daughter 
of John Livingstone Campbell of Achalader, Argyllshire. In 
the title-deeds he is referred to as a' gas manufacturer.' No. 1 
was rouped in two separate lots to pay Burns's creditors, he 
having been involved in financial difficulties. The house was 
purchased by James Lewis, and the garden and stabling by 
a speculative builder who erected upon the ground the shops 
and houses which form the west side of Charles Street. 

In No. 1 lived for a short period, as a tenant, Alexander 
Fraser Tytler, Lord Woodhouselee (1747-1813). He was 
Professor of Civil Law at Edinburgh 1780, Judge Advocate 
1790, and was raised to the Bench in 1802. He encouraged 
Scott in the study of German literature, and he and his wife 
were kindly neighbours of Sir Walter at Lasswade. 

The first proprietor of No. 2, James Smollett of Bonhill 
(d. 1775), was a son of George Smollett of Ingliston. He was 
a Commissary of Edinburgh and Sheriff of Dumbarton. His 
wife was Jean, a daughter of Sir George Clerk of Penicuik. 
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Commissary Smollett was a kind friend to his less fortunate 
cousin, Tobias Smollett, the novelist. There is no record of 
Tobias ever having been in the Commissary's house in George 
Square. His last visit to Scotland, in 1766, furnished much 
interesting and amusing material for Humphry Clinker. The 
novelist makes one of his characters observe that 'Edinburgh 
is considerably extended on the south side, where there are 
divers little elegant Squares built in the English manner.' 

Commissary Smollett cherished Tobias's name and reputa­
tion by erecting to his memory a Tuscan column on the banks 
of the Leven in the parish of Bonhill, the inscription for which 
was prepared by Professor George Stuart, of Edinburgh, and 
John Ramsay, of Ochtertyre, and revised and in part written 
by Dr. Samuel Johnson. In the Tou1· to the H ebrides, Boswell 
declares that when Johnson and he visited the Commissary 
at his country seat they found him ' a man of considerable 
learning, with abundance of animal spirits ' and ' a very good 
companion for Dr. Johnson.' 

Although Johnson never visited at No. 2, James Boswell 
did so, in order to save the life of a man eventually executed 
for theft. The visit is recorded in Boswell's Journal for 
September 1774. Commissary Smollett, however, was unable 
to assist. 

The second proprietor of No. 2, Alexander Udny of Udny, 
advocate and Commissioner of Excise (1742-87), was the 
eldest son of John Udny of that J!l{. Alexander Udny is 
celebrated in Aberdeenshire as the master of the well-known 
Jamie Fleeman, the laird of Udny's fool. Whether the 
following story relates to George Square, or to an earlier 
residence of the laird's in Edinburgh, history has not made 
clear: 

Upon one occasion he [Fleeman] was sent with a letter to the laird , 
resident at the time in Edinbmgh . Jamie arrived in Edinburgh 
safely, but he was quite ignorant of the laird's address, and this he 
set himself to work to discover. As he wandered through the streets, 
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he narrowly inspected every dog he met, and he was at last sufficiently 
lucky to recognise one of his old bed-fellows. Seizing him in his arms 
he ran into a shop, and seizing a coil of rope, mea.sured off five or six 
yards, and fastening this round the dog's neck, set him down, and 
giving him a few hearty kicks-' Hame wi' you, ye scunging tyke, 
hame ! ' and thus discovered the laird's dwelling-place. 

Udny also figures in Boswell's materials for a Life of Lord 
Karnes as the companion of Lord Braxfield on circuit when 
the latter, under the influence of drink, kissed Kames's wife 
in the coach. 

Sir James Naesmyth of Posso, third baronet, was the next 
proprietor of No. 2. He was married, firstly, in 1785, to 
Eleanor Murray, daughter of John Murray of Philiphaugh, 
' a lady equally attractive from her external charms, and the 
elegance of her mind and manners.' Lady Naesmyth's sister, 
Mrs. John Baugh, inherited No. 3 from their aunt, Margaret 
Murray, who lived there along with her mother the Dowager 
Lady Philiphaugh. When the Black Dwarf's cottage fell 
into disrepair about 1802, Sir James Naesmyth, says William 
Chambers, ' kindly ordered a new one to be erected for him 
and his sister.' The baronet died in 1829. 

No. 3 was the home of the widow of John Murray of 
Philiphaugh. Known as Lady Philiphaugh, she was the 
daughter of Lord Basil Hamilton (1671-1701), by his wife 
Mary, the granddaughter and heiress of Sir David Dunbar 
of Baldoon. Lady Philiphaugh's brother, Basil, commanded 
the first troop of horse under Viscount Kenmure in the 
Jacobite rising of 1715, when, as Burns has it, 

There's no' a heart that fears a Whig, 
That rides by Kenmure's hand. 

Lady Philiphaugh owned No. 3 from 1767, and lived there 
with an unmarried daughter, Margaret Murray, to whom it 
was left in 1784. lVIiss Murray's sister Mary, who had married 
Sir Alexander Don in 1750, came in 1787 to live at No. 53. 
And when their brother, John Murray of Philiphaugh, had 
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to retire to the ·west Indies to recruit his fortune which had 
been crippled by racing, keeping a pack of hounds, indulging 
in expensive electioneering, and by a fire which destroyed 
Hangingshaw- ' the largest, the best, the richest, and the 
grandest furnished house in the south of Scotland,' 1 No. 3 
served as the second home of, and was eventually inherited 
by one of his married daughters-also a Margaret Murray­
who became the wife of Lieut. John Baugh, of the 58th Foot. 
Baugh evidently retired with the rank of captain. His death 
(1813) at his house in George Square is noted in the 
Oourant. 

At various periods No. 3 was the home of Sir William 
Jardine of Applegirth, uncle of the ornithologist; also of a 
Polish political exile, Dr. Dionysius Wielobycki; and of the 
Rev. Dr. Walter Chalmers Smith (1824-1908), minister of the 
Free High Church, Edinburgh, w,ho brought out his first book 
of poems-The Bishop's Walk-while residing there. Dr. 
Smith's years in George Square may have fmnished him with 
some nostalgic memories described in a later poem, ' The 
House in the Square,' in which he recalls how 

. . . all the day long there was sunshine there, 
In the House in the Squa,re. 

At No. 4 lived Miss Helen Stevenson, daughter of Alex­
ander Stevenson, W.S., of Mom1t Greenan (d. 1755). Her 
maternal grandfather was Sir Archibald Hope of Rankeillor, 
one of the Lords of Session. 

1 This la.at misfortune, which occurred in April 1768, occasioned some verses 
by Mrs. Alison Cockburn, in one of which she writes : 

'Ah, see that seat of joy and mirth, 
Where every guest was gay and cheerful, 

By flames now levell'd to the earth, 
And all around grown dark and fearful ! 

Behold those tenants of the Vale 
Are now obliged to change their master. 

With heavy hearts they tell the ta.le, 
And weep for his and their disaster.' 
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After her death the house was occupied by James Balfour, 
W.S., and his sister Miss Louise, who were descended from 
the Balfours of Pilrig. During their ownership this became 
the home for a time of a distinguished soldier of the East 
India Company-Lt.-Col. Sir John MacGregor Murray (1745-
1822), chief of Clan Gregor, who resumed the proper surname 
of his family shortly before his death. Sir John was bred to 
the law, but obtaining a cadetship in Bengal in 1770, became 
Deputy Judge Advocate to the Second Brigade at Berhampore 
and, later, military secretary to the celebrated Colonel 
Champion. MacGregor Murray saw service in the first Rohilla 
War, and amongst his friends of Indian military days were 
Colonel Sir John Cumming and Colonel Robert Bruce. He 
and his three brothers, sons of Evan McGregor of Glen 
Carnaick, aide-de-camp to Prince Charles Edward in 1745, 
all served in the East India Company's forces. 

Turning from Jacobite and Indian memories, we come to 
Scotland's lexicographer, the Rev. Dr. John Jamieson (1759-
1838), who lived at No. 4 from 1821 until his death. The 
two supplementary volumes of his famous Dictionary of the 
Scottish Language, issued in 1825, are associated with this 
house. ' Somewhat ponderous he is, poor soul ! ' writes 
Scott. Lockhart tells how the publication of Jamieson's 
History of the Guldees was an unpromising venture for Scott 
and the Ballantynes, and quotes from a letter of Scott's to 
Morritt, in which the writer asks for subscribers for the 
projected volume. 

I wish, for poor auld Scotland's sake, and for the manes of Bruce 
and Wallace, and for the living comfort of a very worthy and ingenious 
dissenting clergyman, who has collected a library and medals of some 
value, and brought up, I believe, sixteen or seventeen children (his 
wife's ambition extended to twenty) upon about £150 a year-I say, 
I ,vish, for all these reasons, you could get me among your wealthy 
friends a name or two for the enclosed proposals . 

Jamieson often took lodgings near Abbotsford so that he 

AD~IIHAL, VISCOU N ~r DUNCAN 

From the portrait by Raebuni specially painted for Trinity House, Leith 
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might indulge his favourite pastime of angling by the banks 
of Tweed. Scott's Journal for 25th July 1826 has this 
entry: 

At dinner-time today came Dr. Jamieson of the Scottish Dictionary, 
an excellent good man, and full of auld Scottish cracks, which amuse 
me well enough, but are caviare to the young people. A little prolix 
and heavy is the good Doctor ; somewhat prosaic, and accustomed to 
much attention on the Sunday from his congregation, and I hope on 
the six other days from his family. So he will demand full attention 
from all and sundry before he begins a story, and once begun there 
is no chance of his ending. 

No. 5 was the house suggested for David Hume by his 
friend Mrs. Cockburn. The first owner was that Walter Scott 
of Harden whose wife, Lady Diana, a daughter of the last 
Earl of Marchmont, 'had conversed, in her early days, with 
the brightest ornaments of the cycle of Queen Anne ... and 
could give Walter Scott personal reminiscences of Pope.' 

It is not certain that the Scotts of Harden lived in George 
Square very much ; at any rate their house was let to Henry 
Dundas as early as 1773 and purchased by him in 1778. At 
this time the future Lord Melville was M.P. for Midlothian 
and growing in power and influence until he became known as 
'the uncrowned King of Scotland.' 

A visitor to No. 5inJuly 1781 was Lady Carlow, a daughter 
of the third Earl of Bute and granddaughter of Lady Mary 
Wortley Montagu. Lady Carlow, who was on a visit to the 
Duchess of Buccleuch at Dalkeith House, writes to her sister 
Lady Louisa Stuart: 'Our ·shopping being over, we went to 
the Advocate's house, which the Duchess had borrowed, and 
were entertained by his sister, whom I mentioned being at 
Dalkeith when we first came.' 

Henry Dundas is associated with three houses in George 
Square, of which No. 5 is the earliest. His cousin, Lord 
Cockburn, describes him as ' handsome, gentlemanlike, frank, 
cheerful and social,' and 'a favourite with most men, and 
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with all women.' His house was a natural resort for the great 
personages of the day. 

Captain Adam Duncan, R.N. (1731-1804), who married 
Henrietta, daughter of Robert Dundas, the Elder, President 
of th~ Court of Session, bought No. 5 in 1786. In his Life of 
Admiral Duncan, the Earl of Camperdown relates how, after 
Duncan was promoted to flag rank in 1787, nearly eight years 
~assed ~efore_ he hoisted his flag. 'During these years he 
lived chiefly rn Scotland, and passed much of his time in 
Edinburgh with his wife's relations.' ' Keppel's Duncan ' 
was on half pay when the Reform riots of 1792 brought the 
Edinburgh mob into George Square to smash Dundas' 
windows and, incidentally, a Duncan finger on which, ever 
after, the Admiral had to wear a curious double ring which 
clamped the helpless digit to the finger next it. The rioters 
are said to have attacked two houses in George Square, 
namely, those of the Lord Advocate (57) and Lady Arniston. 
It is asserted that the latter was in her house in George Square 
when it was attacked. As Duncan had bought No. 5 from 
~enry Dunda~ in 1786, and was living there with his family, 
it seems curious that the mob should be said to have 
attacked this house. In 1792 Henry Dundas owned No. 
38, though the Edinburgh Directory gives his address as 
Park Place. 

Duncan has been described as one of the biggest and 
finest men in t_he Navy. He was' six feet four in height and 
of ~orresponding breadth.' His skilful handling of the 
mutmous seamen at the Nore, and the inspiring victory of 
Camperdown have given his name an undimmed lustre. 
Camperdown called forth addresses, illuminations, ballads, 
and plays expressive of pride and delight. Dibdin sang of 

October the eleventh, at nine, 
Neptune beheld the British line : 
And, lest his honours, so long worn, 
Should from our ever-conquering flag be torn, 
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Dismay to France, horror to Spain, 
Bade Duncan's thunder great Britannia's reign 
Proclaim anew-the Sovereign of the main. 
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An interesting visitor to No. 5 was the Duke of Clarence, 
afterwards William IV. He became known to Duncan in 
1779, when, as Prince William Henry, he served as a mid­
shipman. The Prince ever remembered that when lVIrs. 
Duncan was residing in Gosport she ' was very kind and 
hospitable to the young officers who visited her house.' After 
her husband's death he ' made a point of calling upon her 
when he was in Edinburgh.' 

Lady Duncan (as she became) must have been a delightful 
person. The Admiral was devoted to her and once expressed 
his regard at a dinner celebrating the Battle of the Nile. 
After ' The King ' had been pledged, Duncan rose and said, 
'Gentlemen, I'll give you the best woman in the world. I'll 
give my own wife, Lady Duncan.' 

From 1767 No. 6 was the town house of the Riddells of 
that Ilk. Sir John Riddell and his sons, Walter and John, 
were friends of Boswell, who noted in 1769 that he and his 
father, [Lord] Balmuto, 'the two Mr. Riddles,' and William 
lVIcDonald dined with Sir Thomas Wentworth at lVIr. Campbell 
of Asnish's where, says the diarist, 'I drank freely.' 

The sudden death of Sir John Buchanan Riddell, lVI.P. 
for Selkirk Burghs from 1812 to 1818, led to a contested 
election in which Scott took part, riding' all round the ancient 
woods of Riddell.' Many were his lamentations over the 
catastrophe that had befallen the family. 

They are [Sir Walte1· wrote] one of the most venerable races in the 
south of Scotland-they were here long before these glens had ever 
heard the name of Soulis or of Douglas-to say nothing of Buccleuch : 
they can show a pope's Bull of the tenth century, authorising the then 
Riddell to marry a relation within the forbidden degrees. Here they 
have been for a thousand years at least ; and now all the inheritance 
is to pass away, merely because one good worthy gentleman would 
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not be contented to enjoy his horses, his hounds, and his bottle of 
claret, like thirty or forty predecessors, but must needs turn scientific 
agriculturist, take almost all his fair estate into his own hand, super­
intend for himself perhaps a hundred ploughs, and try every new 
nostrum that has been tabled by the quackish improver's of the time. 

Mrs. Carre of Cavers, and, later, her grandson Thomas 
Riddell, younger, of Camieston, were the last Riddell con­
nections to live in No. 6. Thomas Riddell, a friend and 
companion of Scott in his Yeomanry days, married a cousin 
of Susan Ferrier-the' Scottish Fanny Burney '-and he and 
his wife are mentioned in her Letters. 

Margaret, Grizel, and Anne Boswell Carre, daughters of 
George Carre of Nisbet, one of the Senators of the College of 
Justice (d. 1766), owned No. 7 from 1768. A brief reference 
is made in Boswell's Journal to the two elder sisters. On 
24th February 1782 he ' supt ' with Lord Karnes when ' Miss 
Carre of Nisbet and Miss Grizzy ' were the only other guests. 
No. 7 passed in turn to Alexander Carre of Cavers and his 
brother-in-law, John James Boswell (1793-1839), son of 
Robert Boswell, W.S. This Boswell became an advocate. 
Later, he served on the Prince of Wales Island establishment 
of the Bombay Medical Service and from thence was trans­
ferred to Bengal. 

Another sister of John James Boswell, Elizabeth, married 
John Anderson. During her widowhood she resided at No. 7 
with her four daughters Sibella, Mary Anne, Elizabeth Carre, 
and Margaret Catherine. A fascinating picture of their home 
in George Square is given in the Sandeman family magazine 
-The Olan. Mrs. Anderson is described as ' a beautiful old 
lady, full of sweetness, and charm of manner and conversa­
tion.' She was a deaconess in the Glasite Church. Her eldest 
daughter Sibella was the only one of the family not a member 
of that body ; she was an Episcopalian. 

'The house in George Square was full of old-fashioned 
furniture-old Chippendale bright with the polish of use and 
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in perfect condition ; ancient mirrors with bevelled glass and 
carved frames ; quaint bits of Eastern china and curios . . . ; 
and one or two " Raeburn " family portraits. The walls 
were innocent of recent decoration, but the colours of the 
papers and the curtains, all mellowed with age, suited the 
contents of the rooms.' 

The ladies were musical. They cherished Jacobite sym­
pathies, and possessed several relics of Prince Charles Edward. 
Jacobite songs were first favourites, and no shortening of 
' Bonnie Dundee,' or other lengthy songs in that vein, was 
allowed. The parties at No. 7 were attended by the young 
folks of the Glasite Meeting House. Sibella supplied the 

· music for dancing, finishing with Sir Roger de Coverley, for 
which she played ' Bab at the Bowster.' Elizabeth was a 
poetess, her verses being of a religious character. After their 
mother's death the four sisters continued to live in George 
Square' in the same kindly, hospitable manner.' Mary Anne 
died in 1878 as the result of a cold. Catherine and Eliza, 
exhausted by nursing, soon after followed their sister. All 
three died within a month. Sibella survived her sisters for 
five years, until the end of 1883, when the house in George 
Square was sold, and its treasures scattered. 

The first proprietor of No. 8 was Lady Jane Leslie, 
daughter of John, Earl of Rothes. Her brother, Andrew 
Leslie, an equerry to the Princess-Dowager of Wales, inherited 
the house but sold it to Lt.-Gen. James Al:tercromby of 
Glassaugh (1706-81), who was in command at the assault 
upon Fort Ticonderoga on 8th July 1758. ' The engineer 
having reported that the intrenchment might- be forced by 
musketry alone, Abercromby, unfortunately, determined to 
attack the place without waiting for the artillery .... After 
repeated attacks under disadvantageous circumstances, and 
with the loss of five hundred and fifty-one killed and one 
thousand three hundred and fifty-six wounded, orders were 
given to withdraw.' Interesting memorial tablets to General 
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Abercromby and his wife are in the Glassaugh aisle of the 
old Kirk of Fordyce. 

At his parents' death, No. 8 passed to the second son, 
Col. James Abercromby, who held a commission in the Black 
Watch, and served in North America and the West Indies. 
On half pay for a time, he eventually went on full pay with 
the 3rd Foot. He died in his house in George Square in 1804. 
His wife-a Gordon of Cocklarichie---erected a memorial in 
Greyfriars Churchyard. 

The name of the first proprietor of No. 9 has not been 
ascertained. Probably it was tenanted by the Abercrombys 
of Tullibody. George of Tullibody (1705-1800) lived in the 
Square from 1773 to 1776. A son of Alexander of Tullibody, 
he married Mary, daughter of Robert Dundas of Manor. He 
was called to the bar but never practised. Having purchased 
in 1735 the Professorship of Civil Law, he lectured on the 
Law of Nature and Nations, and was 'distinguished for his 
industry, his love of knowledge, and his vigorous and com ­
prehensive understanding.' Henry Mackenzie says that it 
gave him pleasure to visit old Mr. Abercromby, who was a 
' genuine Scots gentleman of the olden feudal time.' 

In the autumn of 1776, very shortly after the death of 
David Hume, Abercromby was travelling to Haddington 
with two friends. The conversation turned on the deathbed 
of Hume, and as Abercromby's son-in-law, Col. Edmonstone 
of Newton, was one of the philosopher's intimate friends, he 
had heard much regarding the cheerfulness which, it was 
said, had enlivened the sickroom. Whilst the conversation 
was running on in this strain, a lady in the coach, who had 
attended Hume on his deathbed, asked to be allowed to give 
her testimony. 'I can assure you,' she said, 'I hope never 
again to attend the deathbed of a philosopher.' Hume when 
alone was often overwhehned with ' unutterable gloom,' and 
was wont to declare that he had been in search of light all 
his life but was now in greater darkness than ever. 'His 
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agitation was so great at times, as to cause his bed to 
shake.' 

Against this version may be placed an anecdote which 
rendered Robert Haldane's conversation so interesting, de­
pending, as it usually did, on ' original and authentic informa­
tion.' Hume, at the request of Adam Smith, promised, if it 
were in his power, to meet his friend ' in the shady avenue 
of the Meadows, behind George Square ' and ' tell the secrets 
of the world unknown.' But probably Hume's promise was 
made with the same levity as his remark about Charon and 
his boat. Anyhow such was its effect on Adam Smith that 
' no persuasion would induce him to walk in the Meadows 
after sunset.' 1 

From 1788 to 1796 Abercromby's son, Sir Ralph, ' the 
general who shares with Moore the credit of renewing the 
ancient discipline and military valour of the British soldier,' 
lived quietly in George Square. While his main object was 
the education of his family, he himself found occupation in 
study. During one winter he attended lectures on Church 
History. 

Sir Ralph served in Germany with the 3rd Dragoons. 
Later, he acted as aide-de-camp to General Sir William Pitt, 
and saw a good deal of active service. When war with France 
broke out in 1794, Abercromby served in Flanders and was 
wounded at Nimeguen. He commanded the storming column 
at Valenciennes, and was publicly thanked by the Duke of 
York for his conduct at Roubaix. 

As Commander-in-Chief in the West Indies in 1795, Sir 
Ralph reduced St. Lucia, took Demerara, relieved St. Vincent 
and reorganised its defences and those of Granada, before 
going home. On his return Trinidad was captm:ed. His 
services were rewarded by the colonelcy of the Scots Greys, 
the Order of the Bath, and the governorship of Fort George 
and Fort Augustus. Sir Ralph afterwards took part in the 

1 Lives of the Haklanes, 4th ed ., 1855, p. 560. 
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disastrous campaign in Holland where the operations at 
Bergen-op-Zoom and Egmont failed. Abercromby refused 
a peerage, as he did not wish to be associated with such 
military disgrace. His last period of active service ended in 
a soldier's death in Egypt, in 1801. 

Other members of the family of Tullibody who lived in 
George Square were the judges-Lords Abercromby and 
Dunfermline. Alexander, Lord Abercromby (1745-95) helped 
to found the Mirror, and contributed to the Lounger. A 
fine portrait by Raeburn agrees well with the admiration of 
those who knew him, for his ' handsome person and engaging 
disposition.' His nephew James, Lord Dunfermline ( 1776-
1858), surprised Cockburn by ' the enthusiasm with which 
he remembered a part of his youth when he lived in George 
Square, with his uncle Lord Abercromby, the judge.' 

No. 9 became in 1800 the home of the widowed Mrs. Elliot 
of Borthwickbrae, who was heiress of Meikledale, Dumfries­
shire; Flex, Old Melrose; and Burnfoot on Alewater, Rox­
burghshire. An entry in Grieve's Diary mentions her death. 
' In the winter of 1810 old Mrs. Elliot of Borthwickbrae died, 
a,ged 80. She is the last of a race who made a considerable 
figure ... and in whom centred all the wealth of all the Laings . 
. . . She was a fine -looking woman when young, and mother 
of Colonel Lockhart, Captain "\Valter Elliot, and Mrs. Simpson 
of Teviotbank.' 

The last-mentioned was the widow of David Simpson. 
She lived at No. 8 for some years but, after the death of Mrs. 
Elliot, moved into No. 9, where she too died. Their son, 
Sir James Simpson, served with the Grenadier Guards in the 
Peninsula. He was wounded at Quatre Bras, was second-in­
command to Sir Charles Napier in the Kacchi Expedition, 
and Commander-in-Chief in the Crimea after the death of 
Lord Raglan. He was awarded the G.C.B. after the capture 
of Sebastopol. 

The first proprietor of No. 10 was Martin Eccles, M.D., 
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By permiss,ion of the Edinburgh College of Ag-riculture 
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who bought the house in 1770. By this date a prosperous 
and respected citizen, Eccles had apparently lived down his 
reputation as a surgeon who did not enquire too minutely 
as to where the bodies which he required for dissection had 
been procured. An incident which took place on this account 
is described in the Scots Magazine for 17 42 : 

For some time past there was ground to suspect that the unjusti­
fiable practice of stealing corpses out of their graves was become too 
common here ; and on the 9th of March a dead body was found in a 
house near the shop of Martin Eccles, surgeon, which upon enquiry 
was found to be one Alexander Baxter's, who bad been interred in 
the West kirk yard March 2. Upon this discovery, the populace were 
enraged and crowded to t he place, threatening destruction to the 
surgeons. Towards night the mob increased (notwithstanding the 
precautions used by the magistrates) and having seized the Portsburgb 
drum, they beat to arms down the Cowgate to the foot of Niddry's 
wynd, till the drum was there taken from them by a part of the city­
guard. However, that night they broke several surgeons' windows ; 
and next evening forced their way into l\lI.r. Eccles' shop, tho' guarded 
by a party, and fell a-demolishing everything. But the magistrates, 
attended by the officers of the train'd bands, constables, etc. attacked 
and dispersed the mob ; and most of them having run out at the 
Netherbow, that and the other gates of the city were shut, by which 
they were in a great measure quelled. Mr. Eccles and his apprentices 
were cited to stand their trial before the magistrates, as accessory to 
the raising of dead bodies. Two of the apprentices absconded ; and 
Mr. Eccles and the other three appeared; but no proof came out 
against them. 

Sir Patrick Inglis, linen manufacturer, noticed earlier, 
purchased No. 10 in 1794. He was a descendant of the family 
of Inglis of Cramond which had been settled near the mouth 
of the river Almond since the reign of James VI. Several of 
i·ts members followed a mercantile career. Another member 
of the family, Capt. Charles Inglis, R.N., is said to have 
tenanted this house. The son of Rear-Admiral Charles Inglis, 
he took part in the relief of Gibraltar and served under Lord 
Hood in the West Indies. 

G 



50 GEORGE SQUARE 

The first known proprietor of No. 11 was the judge, John 
Campbell, Lord Stonefield, who purchased the house in 1784 
from Richard Lake, who previous to 1779 had it from Mrs. 
Rutherford of Hunthill. Although a judge for thirty-nine 
years, there appears to be no record of his professional history. 
Stonefield, who presided at the trial of Deacon Brodie, is 
reputed to have had scholarly attainments. By his first wife, 
Lady Grace Stuart, sister of the third Earl of Bute, who was 
Prime Minister, Lord Stonefield had seven sons, all of whom 
predeceased him. 

The judge appears in no very flattering light in the letters 
from his niece Lady Carlow to her sister Lady Louisa Stuart. 
She remarks on a duty visit paid in 1781 ' to see Lady Gracie 
Campbell, whom I found set out in great order to see me. I 
think she is like my father and she doesn't whine like the 
Ruthvens, but she seems quite broken-hearted for the loss 
of her sons ; as to him [Stonefield], I never saw such a 
detestable creature, and he talked me to death. Mrs. Mure 
said he was drunk, but I fancy he's not more agreeable when 
sober ; their youngest son seems a good-looking young man.' 
Lady Carlow must have again visited the Stonefield menage 
in 1783, for she received no less than three letters from her 
mother, Lady Bute, commending her attempts to endure 
Stonefield's civilities. 

The second son, Lt.-Col. John Campbell, served in the 
Black Watch, and was the hero of the siege of Mangalore. 
In 1781 the 42nd were ordered to the Cape, but, after cap­
turing a Dutch Convoy in Saldanha Bay, the enterprise was 
abandoned. Meanwhile Hyder Ali, the Moslem usurper of 
the throne of Mysore, having formed a league with the French, 
the Black Watch went to the East and occupied Mangalore, 
in May 1783. On the 28th Tippoo Sultan sent a force to 
besiege it. For eight months the small, weak, and hungry 
garrison kept the whole of the Sultan's main army employed. 
·when forced to surrender, ' even Tippoo acknowledged the 
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gallantry of the defenders.' The East India Company erected 
a memorial in the Cathecb:al at Bombay ' to the merits and 
service of Lieutenant-Colonel John Campbell.' 

William Balderston, W.S. (d. 1818), who had been an 
apprentice to Scott's father, and founded the firm of Scott, 
Moncrieff & Traill, W.S., was at several addresses in George 
Square. One of these was No. 11, which he purchased from 
Lord Stonefield's widow Phoebe Lloyd (his second wife), in 
1811. It has been surmised that his somewhat uncommon 
surname supplied the idea of ' Caleb Balderstone ' to Scott, 
who must have been acquainted with all his father's 
apprentices. 

The earliest owner of No. 12 appears to have been Hemy 
Bethune of Kilconquhar. Com1ected with the noble family 
of Lindsay, he figured in the social life of Edinburgh, and was 
a member of the Poker Club. Later, the house was possessed 
by several members of the Trotter family-Archibald of the 
Bush, Robert of Castlelaw (who was Postmaster of Scotland) 
and Miss Trotter of the Bush. 

With the possible exception of Walter Scott's early home, 
No. 13 is more strongly :reminiscent of various aspects of 
Scottish history than any other house in George Square. 
For twenty-nine years it was the town house of the Scots 
judge, Lord Braxfield, and in it he breathed his last when the 
eighteenth century had nearly run its course. 

Formerly a widely spread belief associated the original of 
R. L. Stevenson's Weir of Hermiston with No. 28, but title­
deeds place beyond doubt that the 'Hangin' Judge's' con­
nection is with No. 13, and with no other. Probably Stevenson 
may have been aware of this, but in Weir of Hermiston, at 
any rate, we are told how ' my lord would take the decanter 
and the glass, and be off to the back chamber looking on the 
Meadows, where he toiled on his cases till the hours were 
small.' In :reality, however, '. my lord' looked, not on the 
Meadows, but on stables with Ross House for background. 
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Readers of the romance will remember that Braxfield's 
mansion was 'wretchedly ill-guided; nothing answerable to 
the expense of maintenance but the cellar which was his own 
private care.' This was literally true, for when a subsequent 
tenant complained that the wine cellar was frequently full 
of water, the then owner explained that Braxfield found the 
cellar too small and had deepened it, with disastrous results. 

When No. 13 was undergoing structural alterations to 
meet the needs of the College of Agriculture some relics of 
the Braxfield period were found in one of the upper rooms. 
These consisted of invitations to dinner addressed to the 
Justice-Clerk and his wife, also several visiting cards. Two 
of the latter were inscribed 'Mrs. Duncan, George Square.' 
In all likelihood this was the wife of Admiral Duncan. The 
other cards were those of ' Lady Christian Graham ' and 
' Mrs. Brown, George Square,' the latter presumably the 
wife of James Brown from whom Braxfield obtained the feu 
on which his mansion was reared. One invitation is in the 
following terms : ' Sir James and Lady Colquhoun request 
the Honour of Captain and Mrs. McQueen's company to dinner, 
Friday, at 4 o'clock-St. Andrew Square.' In Fergusson's 
Life and Times of Henry Erskine, Colquhoun of Luss is 
described as ' one of the oddest characters of the time.' The 
other invitation was from 'Mr. & Mrs. Macdonald,' who 
resided in Princes Street. The Macdonalds may have been 
relations, since Braxfield's daughter Katherine married John 
Macdonald, head of the Highland family of Clanranald, who 
owned extensive lands in the Hebrides. 

Within a year of Braxfield's death (1799) No. 13 was sold 
to Claude Alexander of Ballochmyle, the brother of Wilhel­
mina, the lady celebrated in Burns's song 'The Lass o' 
Ballochmyle.' The son of a landed proprietor in the west 
of Scotland, Alexander realised a fortune as Paymaster­
General of the East India Company's forces in Bengal. He 
heired Ballochmyle from the Whitefoord family. 
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Alexander's proprietorship of No. 13 lasted barely a year. 
In 1802 the house was bought for a winter residence by 
Admiral John Inglis of Auchindinny and Redhall. The 
purchase price was £1280, but with repairs and furnishings 
this figure was increased to £2500. Inglis was a distinguished 
sea captain of the Nelson era, and saw much service on both 
sides of the Atlantic. He was a lifelong friend and fellow 
officer of his neighbour-Admiral Duncan. In 1795, probably 
through Duncan's influence, Inglis was commissioned to the 
Coromandel, an armed transport sent to join a squadron 
cruising off the Texel for the purpose of protecting British 
merchantmen. Two years later, he reported on the mutiny 
which had broken out among Duncan's fleet in the North Sea. 

The bond between Inglis and Duncan was strengthened 
by the battle of Camperdown. When the victory was known, 
local poets became vocal. In David Crawford's Poems chiefly 
in the Scots Dialect Inglis is eulogised in the following 
doggerel: 

An' Captain Inglis, just om- ain door-neighbour, 
Did pelt amang the loons wi' a' his vigour. 
Nae ma.ir they'll grin to taste his heavy mettle ; 
His wounds can tell he fought a bludy battle. 

In November 1797 Inglis was given the honorary freedom 
of Edinburgh ' in testimony of his intrepid conduct ... and 
of the high sense the citizens ... entertain of Captain Inglis's 
good services to his country in general and this city in par­
ticular.' In 1801 he was promoted Rear-Admiral of the Blue, 
in 1804 Rear-Admiral of the White, and in 1805 (the year of 
Trafalgar) Vice-Admiral of the Blue. Inglis died in 1807 and 
was buried in Colinton Churchyard.1 

Much local history is also bound up with the next occupant 
of No. 13. In 1804 Lt. -Col. James Leatham came to Edin­
burgh to be Master of the Riding School. This building, 
erected from designs of Robert Adam, stood on the site of 

1 See Family of Inglis of Auchindinny and Redhall, by John A. Inglis, 1914. 
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the Surgeons' Hall in Nicolson Street. The institution, 
officially but vaguely known as the Royal Academy for 
Teaching Exercises, was patronised by the nobility and 
gentry. It had, however, a chequered existence. 

At the time of his appointment Leatham was Paymaster 
to the Royal Irish Dragoons. According to the terms of a 
nine years' engagement, he was to have 'the exclusive liberty 
of Teaching the Arts of Riding and Fencing, and all other 
exercises heretofore taught.' The salary was £325. Un­
fortunately the average annual outlay for maintaining ten 
horses was £365. This loss quickly accumulated, and in 
the end amounted to £4380, which was mainly borne by 
Leatham. 

In 1808 the directors of the Riding School presented a 
memorial to the Treasury, calling attention to Leatham's 
distressful position. On the advice of the Earl of Moira and 
General Vyse he had accepted the post of Riding Master, and 
in so doing had sacrificed two positions in the Army, each 
worth £500 a year. Yet during the twelve years he had been 
in Edinburgh he had ' literally derived no Emolument from 
his situation ' but had to subsist on his own means, and was 
now ' almost a ruined man.' 

The Barons of the Exchequer recommended that Leatham 
be ' reimbursed for the loss he had sustained.' But whether 
this recommendation was given effect to, and if so how, has 
not transpired. Leatham still held the appointment in 1828, 
though by this time the duties were shared by Captain 
Leatham, possibly a son. On 15th June 1841 Leatham's will 
was recorded in the Register of Deeds. He was then residing 
in Shandwick Place, to which he had apparently removed 
after residing in turn at 13, 28, and 38 George Square (1810-29). 
Leatham was known to Sir -Walter Scott, who, in a letter to 
Lord Melville, dated November 1819, mentions having intro­
duced Gustavus Vasa, Prince of Sweden (then residing in 
Edinburgh as Count Itterburg) 'to all the learned Professors 
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whom he wished to know, not forgetting the Professor of 
Equitation, our friend Leatham.' 1 

Later proprietors of No. 13 include the Rev. Dr. John 
Paul, one of the ministers of St. Cuthbert's Church, Edin­
burgh. Here was born his son, Sir James Balfour Paul, Lord 
Lyon King of Arms from 1890 to 1926. 

Hitherto it has generally been believed that that talented 
noblewoman, Elizabeth, Duchess-Countess of Sutherland 
resided at No. 15-the last house on the north side-but th~ 
Register of Sasines proves conclusively that she lived at 
No. 14. At a later date the house was occupied by Lady 
Alva, and in it her daughter, Viscountess Glenorchy, aunt 
of the Countess of Sutherland, died on 13th July 1786. 

Shortly before her death, Lady Glenorchy sold her estate 
of Barn ton and went to reside with her niece in George Square. 
In the house hung a portrait representing the viscountess 
' playing on a lute ' ; but if all accounts are true the likeness 
bore little resemblance to the original. Lady Glenorchy was 
deeply religious. For a time she encouraged John Wesley in 
his apostolic labours in Edinburgh. She also founded an 
undenominational chapel which stood for long in the shadow 
of the old North Bridge. Here she was buried, but on the 
removal of her chapel in 1845 her remains were re-interred 
in the church bearing her name in Roxburgh Place. When 
the present church at the corner of Drummond Street was 
built, her coffin was lifted once more and given a third burial 
in what is likely to be its final resting place. 

But to return to the Countess of Sutherland, whose career 
has all the elements of romance. The premature death of her 
parents in 1766, within sixteen days of each other (they are 
buried at Holyrood), left Lady Elizabeth, aged one year, the 
greatest heiress in Scotland and the holder of the oldest title 
in Great Britain. Besides being a countess in her own right, 

1 See 'An Eighteenth-Century Riding School,' by W. Forbes Gray, in 
vol. xx of the Book of the Old Edirwurgh Oluh. 
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she was proprietrix of nearly the whole of Sutherlandshire. 
In 1785 she married George Granville Leveson-Gower, who 
in 1803 became Marquess of Stafford and in 1833 was created 
first Duke of Sutherland. 

The countess was a gifted artist in water-colours. She 
and her husband spent lavishly on pictures. Though her 
principal home was in England, she remained a leal Scots­
woman. Edinburgh, her native city, she visited again and 
again, ' for being there,' as she confesses in one of her letters, 
' is always interesting ' because of' the recollections it revives,' 
George Square not least, we may suppose. 

Both Scott and Charles Kirkpatrick Sharpe were among 
her intimate friends. Sir Walter had remembered the countess 
ever since she stood at the window of No. 14 and reviewed 
'her regiment of Sutherland giants.' Sharpe was a relation. 
Of Scott's writings she was a discriminating admirer, though 
while the authorship of the Waverley novels was still a secret 
she assigned Waverley and Guy M annering to Sharpe, and 
even tried to discover from Scott himself ' if her contention 
was sound.' Many features of these novels seemed to en­
courage the belief, and she actually wrote congratulating 
Sharpe. Both works, she told him, were ' read and studied 
by people of all kinds and so much in fashion, that many 
pretended to understand the dialogue in Guy Mannering, 
who cannot possibly comprehend a word of it, and who, never 
having walked through the Greyfriars Churchyard, cannot 
appreciate the epitaph on Captain Bertram's burial place.' 

When the Border .LVlinstrelsy appeared, the countess wrote 
to a friend : ' I like the Border stories, I own, better than the 
very Highland ones of Macleans and Macdonalds, which never 
go beyond their own hills ; and I like the hills themselves 
better than the tradition of a Maclean kicking a Macdonald 
down one of them, or vice versa.' 

History does not record that the countess was a prodigy, 
but it may almost be inferred, for when twelve years old she 
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raised a regiment of Sutherland Fencibles, a thousand strong. 
Her achievement was prompted by the American War of 
Independence. So enthusiastic did the countess become that 
she lamented she could not herself command the regiment. 
On reaching womanhood she raised a second corps, eventually 
embodied in the famous 93rd Regiment. In this corps served 
Samuel Macdonald-' Big Sam.' His height was seven feet 
four inches, and he was broad proportionately. The countess, 
'judging probably,' says General Stewart of Garth, 'that so 
large a body must require more sustenance than his military 
pay could afford,' generously allowed ' Big Sam ' an addi­
tional half-crown a day. 

The Gaelic title of Lady Sutherland was ' Banamhorar­
Chat' (i.e. the Great Lady of the Cat), which Scott pardon­
ably misspelt. Why, it may be asked, ' Great Lady of the 
Cat ' ? The explanation is simpler than at first appears. In 
bygone times the extensive territory in Sutherland and 
Caithness belonging to her was infested with wild cats, a 
circumstance which led the head of the house of Sutherland 
to introduce a black cat into his coat of arms. The chief of 
the clan was known as ' The Great Cat.' 

In 1787, No. 14 found a new proprietor in Captain Archibald 
Swinton of Kimmerghame. Son of John Swinton of that Ilk, 
he studied surgery in Edinburgh and then embarked on a 
military career in India, where he was brought into close 
relationship with Clive. Swinton was wounded at the taking 
of Arcot. He rendered notable service as a surgeon with the 
East India Company, and had many adventures which he 
related with gusto. Swinton's Indian record brought him 
fame. On returning to Scotland he received the honorary 
freedom of Glasgow, Inverness, and Fortrose. 

He married the eldest daughter of James Campbell of 
Blythswood, and made No. 14 his town residence. There his 
eldest son John, and two daughters, Henrietta and Elizabeth 
Catherine, were born. Swinton died at Bath in 1804 and is 
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buried in the Abbey there. It is of interest to add that in 
1845 Henry Davidson of Muirhouse married Henrietta, third 
daughter of John Campbell Swinton ofKimmerghame. They 
were the parents of Randall Thomas Davidson, Archbishop of 
Canterbury. From 1787 to 1805 the Swintons of Kimmer­
ghame, Archibald and his son John, a capt11in in the 91st 
Regiment, lived at No. 14. About 1811 it became the home 
of Lady Dalrymple Hamilton MacGill. She was the widow 
of Sir John Dalrymple, fourth baronet of Cousland, and being 
heiress of Thomas Hamilton MacGill of Oxenford and Fala, 
her husband (and her cousin), by right of marriage, became 
Sir John Dalrymple Hamilton MacGill. 

Sir John, who was a Baron of Exchequer, is known to 
literary fame as the author of Memoirs of Great Britain, a 
work rather trenchantly handled by Dr. Johnson. This 
circumstance, however, did not deter Johnson from accepting 
an invitation to visit Dalrymple at Cranston, the last he paid 
in Scotland before returning to England from his tour to the 
Hebrides. 

If, as Boswell says, the visit was not a success, the blame 
lies with Johnson and his biographer, who accompanied him. 
Croker can hardly be accused of severity when he states that 
both ' seem to have behaved . . . with wanton incivility.' 
They committed the unpardonable sin of arriving ' very late ' 
and found Sir John 'not in a very good humour.' ,vorse 
still, Johnson had the effrontery to amuse himself by de­
scribing to Boswell the imaginary impatience of their host in 
language resembling that of the 11{ emoirs of Great Britain. 
It is not surprising, therefore, that the talk was rather strained, 
and that after supper the travellers retired to' ancient rooms, 
which would have better suited the climate of Italy in summer, 
than that of Scotland in the month of November.' 

According to the Edinburgh Directory for 1841, Alexander 
Chancellor of Shieldhall, Lanarkshire, was residing at No. 14. 
He was the representative of a family which had held the lands 
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of Shieldhall and Quothquhan for more than four centuries. 
In the llfemorie of the Somervilles it is stated that a firm 
friendship existed between the Lords Somerville and the 
Chancellors as early as the reign of Robert the Bruce. In 
1567 William Chancellor joined the supporters of Mary Queen 
of Scots and fought at Langside. 

No. 14 was for some years the home ofvValler Hugh Paton, 
R.S.A., and there he died in 1895. He came of an artistic 
family. Waller was a brother of Sir Joseph Noel Paton, while 
his sister, afterwards Mrs. D. 0. Hill, attained some distinction 
as a sculptor. Though self-taught, Waller Paton quickly 
came to the front as a landscape painter. He was the first 
Scottish artist to attempt painting his pictures throughout 
in the open air. Most of his subjects were found in the hill 
scenery of Perthshire, Aberdeenshire, and Arran. Waller 
Paton, writes Sir James L. Caw in Scottish Painting, 'was an 
industrious worker and a copious exhibitor, and for many 
years his highly finished, prettily detailed landscapes enjoyed 
enormous popularity with the general as distinguished from 
the art public.' 

The last house on the north side, No. 15, has its western 
front treated somewhat elaborately, the central feature being 
a large bay window which once overlooked the spacious and 
well-wooded grounds of George Watson's Hospital. 

In the eighteenth century this house was inhabited by 
the Calderwoods of Polton and the Durhams of Largo, families 
that intermarried. William Calderwood, the earliest occupant, 
was the eldest son of Thomas Calderwood of Polton, and his 
wife Margaret, daughter of Sir James Steuart of Coltness. 
Her brother James, who succeeded to the baronetcy, was 
implicated in the Jacobite rebellion of 1745-46, and compelled 
to reside abroad. In order to relieve the loneliness of his 
exile, Mrs. Calderwood joined him in the Low Countries. 
While there she was punctilious in jotting down her travels 
and experiences, and at the same time kept up a voluminous 
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